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31 September 2023 

To: The Sub-Committee of Planning (Public Rights of Way) 

LATE REPRESENTATION from Graham Underdown MBE and Jean Underdown 

 

Introduction: 

1. This ‘late rep’ is presented in the form of a ‘Victim Impact Statement’ – and 

without too much legal speak.  We hope the PROW Committee will sit as a 

‘Truth and Resolution Committee’ and correct the injustice caused to us by 

those in authority who made and confirmed an order for a footpath that never 

existed to provide an entrance to the 220-acre Porthkerry Country Park (PCP) 

that the Local Planning Authority released Wimpey from delivering on phase 

3. For over 20-years literally 10s of thousands of people (usually with dogs) 

have used our Wimpey home to access PCP.   

 

2. In 2007 a kissing-gate into PCP was provided at Lon Fferm Felin from funding 

provided by the former Countryside Council for Wales. This gateway does not 

pass through or interfere with any private dwellings. In 2004 we sought a 

diversion order to divert footpath 73 to this location.  We personally agreed to 

pay £1000 for the kissing-gate works.  Having led us to believe the Council 

would support the diversion order, it then refused our application. 

 

3. We highlight events that support what is the ‘truth’ namely our property was 

expropriated without lawful authority.   The ‘truth’ cannot and must not be 
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deemed an irrelevant matter to the PROW Committee’s determination. The 

order was made and confirmed to add a footpath to the Definitive Map and 

Statement (DMS) to cover-up major breaches in planning and development 

control; legal agreements; and contractual requirements.  The parties to the 

breaches are the Welsh Government; the Council; and Wimpey (as it was 

then).  

 

4. Being up against such high-ranking people has made it very difficult to expose 

the truth. Mrs Underdown and Mrs Medhurst recently met with police officers 

attached to the ‘Economic Crimes Unit’ who were sympathetic to potential 

criminal cases of misconduct in public office but could not investigate due to 

lack of resources. This included establishing whether or not there was any 

misappropriation of the £800,000 the Council received when it sold 2.86 acres 

of land it had held as public open space (POS) since 1935 behind Hawthorn 

Road.  The Council sold this land to the Land Authority for Wales (LAW) on 21st 

November 1994 - a week after the Local Planning Authority (LPA) granted 

planning permission on 17th November 1994 for residential development on 

this site without going through the legal formalities under the Local 

Government Act 1972 for the disposal of POS. Approximately, 40 homes were 

later built on land allocated POS. The police made it very clear that they did 

not view our allegations as frivolous or vexatious. 
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5. Furthermore, a section 106 legal agreement (s106 agreement) associated with 

the planning approval should have been executed between the Council and 

LAW prior to planning permission being granted but it was instead executed 

on 21st November 1994.  It took well over 4 years for the s106 agreement to 

be registered as a local land charge meaning several homebuyers and their 

conveyancers, including ours, were not aware of its existence because it was 

not identified in search results.   

 

6. The s106 agreement obligated the developers to deliver a pedestrian access 

between the residential development and POS i.e.; entrance to PCP.  The 

terms of this obligation ensured access would not be through private dwellings 

but was to be from off a roadway built to an adoptable standard that 

terminated on the boundary between the new residential development and the 

39.9 acres of POS that became an extension to PCP with effect from 21 

November 1994. 

 

7. We note the redaction in Appendix 1 to the Officer Report.  The Investigation 

Report is attributed to the Director of Place but in reality, was prepared by the 

England based law firm Birketts LLP who were paid £10,000+ to write it.  Some 

redaction, we believe, was undertaken to protect a high-ranking in-house 

Council lawyer who is still employed by the Council.  This is the self-same in-

house Council Lawyer who executed the order for footpath 73 on 22 January 

2002. We see this as symptomatic of the ongoing 20-year+ ‘cover-up’ and 
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protection of officers rather than bring them to account. On the matter of 

‘truth’ we note the redaction in Mrs Medhurst’s submissions contained in the 

case file on the ground the content is potentially defamatory.  We would ask 

the PROW Committee to consider by expressing the ‘truth’ how can her 

submissions be seen as defamatory?    We do not expect any redaction on our 

‘late rep’ because nothing stated is defamatory.  We have also avoided using 

the personal names of key individuals, despite them already being in the public 

domain, to comply with what we view as a very disturbing ‘redaction policy’.  

 

8. A current Cabinet Member told us some years ago a Cllr’s duty lay with 

protecting the Council and its officers.  This is a blatant misconception. The 

duty of Cllrs is to support their constituents. Over the years we have received 

no support from our Ward Members - indeed former Cllr ********* and Cllr 

Charles have actively worked against us. Our current three Ward Members 

(including Cllr Charles) have not even replied to emails offering information 

and an accompanied site visit to see the evidence proving footpath 73 never 

existed AND the order route was misaligned on the ground.   

 

9. From even basic planning research our Ward Members would find the Council 

released Wimpey from delivering the pedestrian access linking the Cwm Barry 

Farm residential development with   the 39.9-acre area of POS, extension to 

PCP, on phase 3.  This was despite Wimpey being bound by its contract with 

LAW to deliver it.  Wimpey never sought a variation to its contract.  This means 
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the existence of the pedestrian access that was both conditioned in the outline 

approval (1990/00248/OUT) and a s106 planning obligation is reflected in the 

title deeds of estate homeowners on phases 3, 4 and 5 as being located on 

phase 3. All their title deeds, including our own, contain a misrepresentation 

because the conditioned and s106 pedestrian access was never delivered on 

phase 3 or on any other phase. Generally, if a misrepresentation in a 

conveyance is found to be deliberate it can be deemed an act of fraud. A word 

of caution. Do not be fobbed off, as we were, ***************, into believing 

the kissing gate at Lon Fferm Felin is the conditioned and s106 agreement 

pedestrian access because it isn’t.   We hold the documents proving the 

funding for the kissing-gate was provided by   the former Countryside Council 

for Wales, and was not paid for by the developers.  

 

10. The Council’s ‘Rights of Way Improvement Plan’ is a material consideration 

in PROW matters.  Paragraph 6.2.3 of the current draft ROWIP refers to 

anomalies where a Definitive Map and Statement (DMS) alignment does not 

match a walked route.  Footpath 73 is one of these anomalies.  Setting aside 

our position and more importantly, that of our expert, that a footpath never 

existed over Cwm Barry Farmland during the relevant 20-year statutory period 

under s31 Highways Act 1980 (HA 1980), the misalignment of the order route 

on the ground must be addressed in your decision making.  As the PROW 

Committee you need to be clear about the alignment of the order route Mrs 

Medhurst seeks to delete.  This is especially important because the Council 
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claims to have lost the original order so you only have a photocopy before you.  

The PROW Committee needs to establish what landowners are affected by the 

order route; the extent of the order route they are affected by; and accept 

that from the outset we have challenged the misalignment of the order route 

on the ground.  Our main challenge was and remains, when setting out the 

order route after it was confirmed, the Council created a gap in our boundary 

that never before existed to provide a public entrance to PCP rather than 

remove the section of fence panel on the boundary between of 9 Clos Cwm 

Barri and the Council owned POS that blocked the access to the fields users 

claimed.   

 

11. When an order is confirmed by an Inspector that is the end of their role.  

In any subsequent high court challenge the Welsh Ministers would be the 

respondent not the Inspector. If an order is confirmed and the Council 

misaligns the order route on the ground then we accept that is a matter for 

the Council and the aggrieved landowner, not the Inspector, to resolve. We 

formally raised misalignment issues with the Council and provided a dossier of 

evidence on 12th May 2012.  More than 10-years has since passed and the 

Council has taken no action other than record the anomaly in the draft ROWIP. 

The opportunity is now here for the members of the PROW Committee to 

address the anomaly in a public forum and, in accordance with the Code of 

Conduct by which you are all bound, we expect you to grasp it and address 

the misalignment.  
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12. From time to time, we have tried to secure our boundary by blocking up 

the gap.  The response has been threats of legal proceedings *********, who 

made the original order and authenticated the accompanying order map with 

*** signature and job title stamp.  We also experienced vile facebook trolling 

from users who do not understand the misalignment anomaly and assume, 

from reading their title deeds, we seek to deprive them of the conditioned and 

s106 pedestrian access to PCP.  Damage to our property has occurred – so 

extensive that a family car had to be written off. 

 

13. A couple of years or so ago Cllr Janice Charles did attend our property with 

a camera man and filmed footpath 73 without our consent or us being present. 

She stood in the unauthorised gap in our boundary created by the Council in 

April 2003 when it unhinged its maintenance gate to misalign order point ‘B’ 

rather than take down the fence panel on the boundary of 9 Clos Cwm Barri 

blocking the gap claimed by users.  The gap created in our boundary was not 

on the line of either the application route or the confirmed order route. Cllr 

Charles bent down and looked at the forlorn hanging post and would have 

seen the fence panel adjacent to it.  She would also have seen the Council’s 

maintenance gate had been pushed into the now overgrown hedge and tied to 

the waymarker post to stop it falling over. This made the Council’s so-called 

‘maintenance access’ unusable which is why the Council doesn’t care the 

gated- area has become overgrown.  Since we were not present, we were 

unable to point out the significance of these land features, and others, that 
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not only prove the misalignment anomaly but also prove footpath 73 never 

existed so was recorded on the DMS in error.  

 

14. Cllr Charles has been involved in the controversy of footpath 73, off and 

on, virtually from the beginning.  She went on record at a meeting of Barry 

Town Council in 2010 proposing a motion that effectively accused us of 

wanting to get rid of footpath 73 for personal financial gain! Her motion was 

seconded **********. With the benefit of hindsight, the motion was 

defamatory. The ‘truth’ is, we want to be rid of a footpath that never existed, 

and, to add salt to our ever-gaping wounds, was misaligned through our 

property and property boundary. We simply want to regain the true value of 

the property we chose for its private location, access to which was over a 

private drive. We never dreamt in a million years our modest Wimpey home 

would become an entrance to ‘Barry’s Jewel in the Vale of Glamorgan, 

Porthkerry Country Park.’    

 

15. When we completed on our purchase of 8 Clos Cwm Barri on 30 July 1999, 

no footpath was recorded crossing through our home and no application for a 

footpath had been submitted.  We actually paid a premium for the larger than 

average plot sitting adjacent to PCP with the privacy given by an access over 

a private drive.    2-months after we moved in, a Wimpey phase 3 resident 

submitted a footpath application on 29th September 1999. *** name is on the 

public record but to avoid redaction we shall refer to *** as the ‘footpath 
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applicant’. We and our neighbours at 6 Clos Cwm Barri were in total shock 

when *** served us notice of his application shortly after we moved in.  After 

footpath 73 was recorded on the DMS our neighbours at number 6 sold up and 

moved away.  Our property was later valued and had lost £60,000 – we could 

not afford to suffer this loss and move. 

 

16. The Council knew the route claimed was the alignment of the intended 

pedestrian access because the footpath applicant relied on a draft site layout 

plan identifying it.  However, *** mistakenly believed the intended pedestrian 

access crossed over our private drive.  *** did not realise the land set aside 

for it had been included in the garden curtilage of 9 Clos Cwm Barri.  The 

Council never asked *** to amend *** application to claim a route through 9 

Clos Cwm Barri. It also failed to explain to *** the section of route claimed 

described as crossing over ‘fields’ had been allocated POS since 21 November 

1994 when it became an extension to PCP so public rights for recreation 

already existed.  This meant the public could wander over the land at will – so 

long as they abided by the PCP byelaws – so what was the point of a ‘defined 

one-metre-wide route’ passing over the fields?    Read on and this question 

will be answered……. 

 

17. The Council totally ignored the section of route the footpath applicant 

claimed through the Mill Wood and went onto make an order that terminated 
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at order point ‘D’, a point on the barbed wire fence boundary between the 39.9 

acres of POS and the edge of the Mill Wood.  

 

18. The Council first introduced a Park Ranger service in 1979 to manage public 

use of PCP. When the 39.9 acres became an extension to PCP with effect from 

21 November 1994, the barbed wire was cut, possibly by Park Rangers, in the 

location of what later became order point ‘D’, to create an informal link 

between the original PCP and its extension.  Prior to November 1994 any 

forced access at this point by cutting of the barbed wire or making a structure 

(such as a step-stile) to climb over the barbed wire fence into the Mill Wood 

from the Cwm Barry Farmland would have been in breach of the PCP byelaws.  

Park Rangers, as part of their public use management duties, would have 

swiftly secured the boundary to prevent public access at this location.  We 

personally knew the late ***********, who was the Senior Country Park 

Ranger.  *** lived in Nightingale Cottage in PCP until *** retired.  *** took 

*** ranger management duties very seriously and the notion that *** would 

turn a blind eye and allow an access created by force through or over the 

barbed wire fence boundary surrounding the Mill Wood to be available for any 

length of time, including where order point ‘D’ was later located, is absolutely 

ridiculous.    

 

19. The Council recognised user of section of the application route through the 

Mill Wood was ‘by right’ – which is why it ignored this section of claimed route 
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- but chose not to recognise ‘user by right’ over the POS, extension to PCP.  

The reason for this was to make it less obvious the Council needed a pedestrian 

access to the PCP extension that high-ranking LPA officers, ***********, had 

released Wimpey from delivering. We hold evidence that the LPA knew about 

Wimpey’s contractual obligations so Wimpey should not have been released 

from delivering the pedestrian access without first going through legal 

formalities with LAW to vary its contract. We also hold evidence that in April 

1999 a senior official in the Welsh Development Agency (WDA) (the WDA took 

over the functions of LAW in October 1998) was shown a Wimpey layout plan 

identifying the conditioned pedestrian and vehicle accesses, subject to the 

s106 legal agreement, on phase 3 and on this basis *** ‘signed off’ phase 3.  

We have the plan number but have never traced the plan.  We would say that 

whatever was before the WDA official was either a ‘fake’ or a ‘draft’ plan 

because it is fact that neither of the conditioned and s106 accesses were 

delivered on phase 3.  For the record the conditioned s106 vehicle access was 

delivered on phase 4 in 2000 but the Council could not use it until it paid the 

phase 4 developer, Westbury, for the ransom strip in the location of its 

maintenance gate. Payment of £24,912.25 was made in May 2002.  

 

The Footpath Application:  

20. Mrs Underdown is from a fourth generation Barry family and knew first-

hand that no footpaths ever crossed the Cwm Barry Farmland.  As a schoolboy 

growing up in the late 70s and early 80s her son and his friends would be 
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chased off the fields by LAW’s tenant farmer.  In 1983 Farmer ***** took a 

Barry resident to court for allowing *** dogs to worry and kill his sheep on the 

land.  There is a local story of Farmer ***** knocking out a trespasser and 

asking *** farm hand ‘Cwm Barry Jack’ (a Barry legend!) to escort *** off the 

land once *** regained consciousness!  Farmer ***** was a tenant of LAW 

from around 1977 when Farmer ****** retired and *** actively prevented 

and did not tolerate public user of the fields owned by LAW *** farmed.  

Around 1994 *** became the Council’s tenant and held a mowing license for 

the 39.9 acres of POS, extension to PCP.  *** could not prevent public user of 

the land because it was allocated POS – but any user would need to stay well 

clear of *** massive tractor and bailer! After a few years *** gave up *** 

mowing licence for silage because dog excrement from the increased use of 

the land once the Cwm Barry Farm residential development became 

established was poisoning his livestock.  

 

21. The footpath applicant was not a ‘local’ but *** did know about the 

historical gateway to the fields located behind 9 Clos Cwm Barri and recalled 

stepping over the old field gate lying on the ground to access the fields. This 

historical gateway was very close to the property Cllr ********* purchased 

in Fforest Drive on phase 3 on 25 June 1999.   When***moved in Cllr 

*********, in breach of planning and the PCP Byelaws, removed a section of 

hedgerow and installed a ‘private’ rear access gate into PCP. The Council took 

half – hearted enforcement action against*** because, to this day, the gate 
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in the wall Cllr ********* built remains. Cllr ********* sold up a couple of 

years or so ago and now resides elsewhere ***************.   

 

22. In October 1998, the footpath applicant and *** family were the first family 

to move into Clos Cwm Barri. Number 9 Clos Cwm Barri was built but had not 

been sold.  Numbers 4, 6 and 8 were yet to be built because Wimpey’s site 

compound was located over these plots.  Wimpey moved its compound and 

began building 4, 6 and 8 Clos Cwm Barri in January 1999 – the private drive 

was set out around May 1999. The footpath applicant possibly witnessed 

Wimpey removing the hedgerow on the boundary between 8 and 9 Clos Cwm 

Barri and the fields in October 1998, and perhaps saw the new maintenance 

gate being installed.  Regardless it is common ground the gated-access works 

were undertaken in October 1998 so coincided with when *** family moved 

in so it is inconceivable the footpath applicant did not see the gated-access 

works being progressed.  

 

23. We wonder if the footpath applicant checked if there was permission for the 

hedge removal?  There wasn’t any – furthermore without a valid permission 

its removal was in breach of the PCP byelaws.   We say this because the 

footpath applicant was very quick to report us to the Council for felling a 

diseased tree on our property only to be told we had proper planning 

permission.  Regardless, the main point to be made is that when the historical 

gateway was no longer accessible to the footpath applicant and a stile further 
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up the field boundary behind a property in the Ffordd Cwm Cidi cul-de-sac was 

fenced off, *** and other residents gained access to the fields via a gap 

adjacent to the hanging post of the new maintenance gate – a gap created in 

October 1998 when the new gate was installed.  

 

24. With the benefit of hindsight and a clearer understanding of the law, we 

now find it remarkable the footpath applicant’s application relied on 20-year 

user of a defined route under s31 Highways Act 1980 (HA 1980) when *** 

knew ****** the gap by the maintenance gate had only been available as a 

usable means of access to the fields for a few months after the hedge was 

removed. On 6th August 1999 the gap adjacent to the maintenance gate on 

the field boundary with 9 Clos Cwm Barry was blocked by a fence panel after 

we and number 6 complained about the trespass problem with new residents 

crossing the private drive and going up the gravel pathway on 9 Clos Cwm 

Barri to get to the gap. Most of them ignored our pleas that the driveway, that 

was black-topped at the time, was private land. At the same time the Council 

erected a sign on the maintenance gate making clear it was not for pedestrian 

use.     We hold topographical surveys dated 1977 and 1997 proving that prior 

to October 1998 there was no gap or break in the hedgerow at the location of 

the new maintenance gate and the gap adjacent to its hanging post. Plans we 

hold show a bund through the centre-line of the hedge constructed for land-

drainage purposes and stock proof fencing specifically installed to stop farm 

stock breaking through the hedge. However, OS plans going back to the 1800s 
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show the historical gateway to the fields located behind what became 9 Clos 

Cwm Barri.  

 

25. Discovering around May 1999 the pedestrian access was not going to be 

installed when kerb-stones alongside 9 Clos Cwm Barri setting out a footway 

were removed, the footpath applicant and a person we shall refer to as *** 

‘chief witness’ petitioned for its re-instatement.  The footpath applicant handed 

the 138-signature petition to Cllr *********.  The Council took no action other 

than to file it on an obscure planning application file where it gathered dust 

before being discovered by us in 2009.  

 

26. Around about the same time as the petition was being circulated the chief 

witness complained about Wimpey to Trading Standards because the promised 

pedestrian access had not been delivered on phase 3.  Trading Standards, 

notably a Council run organisation, dismissed *** complaint of 

misrepresentation because an in-house Council lawyer had written a letter to 

Wimpey on 16th June 1999 releasing Wimpey from providing it.  This letter 

post-dated by several months the beneficial occupation of several phase 3 

properties including the homes of the footpath applicant and *** chief witness.  

Why they never reverted to their conveyancers and bring a collective action 

against Wimpey for potentially fraudulent misrepresentation in their 

conveyances is not known.  We can only assume they took the letter of 16th 

June 1999 at face value and did not realise the provision of a pedestrian on 
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phase 3 was a contractual requirement between Wimpey and LAW the 

Council’s LPA had no right to interfere with. It was actually a requirement in 

all the contracts between LAW/WDA and the developers for phases 1, 2, 3, 4 

and 5 that approval of plans had to be first be granted by LAW/WDA before 

being submitted to the LPA for approval. The point being the Council could 

only release Wimpey from delivering the pedestrian access on phase 3 IF the 

WDA had done so first and a deed of variation to the contract had been 

executed to this effect. 

 

27. Cllr ********* provided quotes in a ‘South Wales Echo’ press article dated 

12th July 1999 about the residents’ petition, which showed a colour photograph 

of the chief witness standing behind the maintenance gate.***was quoted as 

saying there should be a ‘small public path’ at Clos Cwm Barri.  Since his 

property was very close to the historical gateway,***likely wanted to reduce 

the risk of a ‘small public path’ being anywhere near***!  As to the 

photograph, it was taken before we or number 6 had moved in but number 9 

had been occupied since 17th June 1999 so the owners/occupiers may have 

witnessed the press interest. Regardless, they would have known that for 

anyone to get behind the locked maintenance gate they would have gone 

through the gap on their boundary at the end of their gravel pathway adjacent 

to the hanging post – later to become order point ‘B’ on the order route. With 

the petition and the complaint to Trading Standards failing it is likely the press 

article quotes from Cllr ********* encouraged the footpath applicant to claim 
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a footpath at Clos Cwm Barri.  However,***did not claim a route on the line 

of the historical gateway,***had admitted to using, because his desired route, 

and that of his chief witness, was on the alignment of the intended pedestrian 

access Wimpey had not delivered. Under PROW law you cannot claim a route 

out of ‘desire’ or because it is ‘convenient’. 

 

28. We would ask the PROW Committee to consider why the footpath applicant 

and *** chief witness would even have bothered with the petition or 

misrepresentation complaint to Trading Standards and not just claimed a 

footpath, IF they genuinely believed an unrecorded PROW existed? The chief 

witness had lived in a property on phase 2 from 20 June 1997 before moving 

to phase 3 in December 1998, so why did *** not make an application ****** 

for a footpath *** claimed in *** user evidence form (UEF) daily use of since 

the 1970’s?  Our answer is they were both disappointed at the failure of the 

petition; the failure of the Trading Standards complaint; and annoyed at the 

blocking of the gap on the field boundary, their desired means of access to the 

fields later to become order point ‘B’ that they found convenient.  If it was not 

the Cllr ********* quote in the press that sewed the seed of an idea for the 

footpath applicant to make a claim under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 

1981 (WCA 1981) then someone else did.   
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Planning Matters: 

29. Vehicular and pedestrian access to the POS, PCP extension was not a 

reserved matter.  However, the LPA failed to determine the precise location of 

each access point on the boundary between the new residential development 

and POS, PCP extension at the outline stage.  Despite access not being a 

reserved matter the *************and another now retired high-ranking 

LPA officer ‘approved’ a plan under reserved matters application 

98/00014/RES, delivering a ‘gated access’ for Council maintenance vehicles 

over our private drive that was not built to an adoptable standard.  As stated 

above, the outline planning condition and associated s106 obligation provided 

for the Council’s maintenance vehicle access to be from off an estate road built 

to an adoptable standard that terminated at the boundary between the new 

residential development and POS. The LPA and Wimpey ignored this - and 

Wimpey ignored its contractual obligations with LAW!   

 

30. The hedgerow was removed in October 1998 without the consent of LAW.  

The maintenance gate was then installed at the top of our private drive that 

was not built to an adoptable standard. Rather than butt the hanging post of 

the gate up against the brick screen wall on 9 Clos Cwm Barri, as per the so-

called ‘approved plan’, a gap was left that the footpath applicant and other 

estate residents found as a convenient access point to the fields.  We repeat, 

this means of access to the fields was only available between October 1998 

when the hedge was removed (without lawful authority) and 6th August 1999 
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when the gap was blocked by a section of fence panel.  The gap was not 

available throughout a 20-year period for the user ‘as of right’ test to apply 

under s31 HA 1980. The fence panel blocking the gap is still standing today; 

the forlorn hanging post is alongside it; and the maintenance gate remains 

tied to the way marker post.   

 

31. It is important the PROW Committee note that when the footpath applicant 

submitted *** footpath application in September 1999 Wimpey was yet to 

coat our private drive with a gold resin and instal the pillars and drive gates. 

Since our private drive was black-topped we know that many residents 

wrongly believed it was the continuation of the estate road Clos Cwm Barri – 

especially when there was a field gate at the end of it. Approved plans show 

that we should have had block paviours, like other shared private drives on 

the estate, but we and number 6 agreed instead to the resin works and drive 

gates.  These works were undertaken by Wimpey sometime after September 

2000 when the **********, then a high-ranking LPA officer, refused 

Wimpey’s application to remove the maintenance gate and re-instate the 

hedgerow. (Application 00/376/OUT). By then a year had elapsed since the 

footpath applicant had made *** claim so *** went to PINS Wales and sought 

a schedule 14 direction under the WCA 1981. Had the Wimpey application 

been approved and the hedge re-planted etc the footpath application would 

have been a ‘dead duck’ with no chance of success whatsoever. 
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32.  At the time of the refusal the Council’s sign on the maintenance gate was 

taken down but it remained locked. With some irony we now realise that 

Wimpey’s application to remove the ‘gated-access’ lacked any authenticity 

because the ‘gated-access’ never had planning permission in the first place so 

should have been removed as unlawful development and the hedge re-

planted. The ********** refusal must have been because *** had in mind to 

use the gate for the footpath claim and pass the footpath off as the pedestrian 

access, *** had released Wimpey from delivering to cover up for *** personal 

involvement in the major breach in planning and development control.  A 

secondary reason was because the Council had not yet paid Westbury for the 

ransom strip at the lawfully installed maintenance gate on phase 4. We note 

the Officer Report for appliction 00/376/OUT contains an error.  It refers to 

Clos Cwm Barri as a ‘public highway’ when as at March 2000, when the report 

was written, it was not to become a highway maintainable at the public 

expense until over 20-years later in September 2020. Until then Clos Cwm 

Barri was not a ‘public highway’ but an un-adopted estate road.   

 

33. In 2009 the ************************; and an in-house Council 

Lawyer told us in writing that we had both conditioned, s106 accesses over 

our private drive.  This correspondence is absolute proof *********and other 

Council staff were desperate to pass off the footpath over our property as the 

conditioned and s106 agreement pedestrian access. We were very confused 

about ‘footpath v pedestrian access.’  In this context, we now understand a 
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footpath, is a public right of way – a means of passage from one public place 

to another public place whereas the provision of a pedestrian access linking 

the residential development with PCP was a planning condition and associated 

obligation under the s106 agreement that was to be satisfied by Wimpey on 

phase 3.  

 

34. There was no evidence whatsoever that the intended pedestrian access on 

phase 3 was on the alignment of an unrecorded PROW over a defined route 

used for 20-years ‘as of right’ but this is the alignment the footpath applicant 

claimed.  Prior to development commencing LAW had prepared a 

‘Development Brief’ and the Council a ‘Planning Brief’ where the development 

was described as ‘Residential development and POS in conjunction with 

adjoining country park at Cwm Barry Farm, off Cwm Barry Way and Pontypridd 

Road, Barry’ was measured and surveyed.  Neither Brief (copies held) 

identified any pathway, track or trail feature over the land in question that 

could potentially be an unrecorded PROW. That said, LAW did identify the track 

from off Broad Close alongside the Bowling Club that led to the Sewage Works 

behind which there was a stile into PCP on the edge of the Mill Wood. If 

anything, it was this track access to PCP the footpath applicant should have 

claimed because it was a defined route described as a track ******* claimed 

in *** UEF as commencing from the Bowling Club to PCP as well as a route 

from *** home at Clos Cwm Barri.  
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The November 2001 PROW Committee: 

35. The PROW Committee sat twice in November 2001 and had before it a 

report of the Director of Environment and Economic Regeneration –

************* who had released Wimpey from delivering the pedestrian 

access on phase 3. The report was totally silent on the Council owned fields 

adjacent to the residential development being allocated POS with effect from 

21 November 1994. It was also silent on why the Council was not considering 

the section of route the footpath applicant claimed through the Mill Wood.  

Remarkably, the report admitted the UEFs accompanying the application had 

not been ‘investigated’.  Incredibly neither the report nor the associated 

minutes made any finding on the 20-year relevant user period relied on under 

s31 HA 1980.  

 

36. We attended the first meeting and presented a case without the benefit and 

knowledge of PROW matters we have now. We arrived at the second meeting 

only to be escorted off the premises being told it was a ‘closed meeting’. A 

somewhat humiliating experience!  We later learnt at the 2nd meeting the 

officer relied on a digest of the authority Fernlee to move the access of the 

footpath, the PROW Committee had determined was the historical 

gateway behind 9 Clos Cwm Barri, to our private drive.  The circumstances 

of the Fernlee case were totally different to those at Clos Cwm Barri. We also 

learnt years later the officer was also in possession of a recent planning 

inspector’s decision on a Cardiff case where the inspector refused to allow the 
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movement of the route and did not confirm the order. The Cardiff case was 

very similar to ours but the officer withheld it from the PROW Committee. At 

the time Mrs Underdown was the receptionist at a firm of solicitors PROW 

Committee member former Cllr ****** worked for.  On coming to work the 

next day *** told Mrs Underdown ‘A political decision had been made to make 

an order for a footpath’.  Mrs Underdown will swear under oath this is what 

Cllr ****** said.  We now realise that you cannot make an order based on 

‘political reasons’ in the same way you cannot make an order for a route users 

desire and/or find convenient.  

 

37. We can now categorically say the PROW Committee was manifestly mislead 

and misdirected by both the report and the officer misapplying Fernlee so was 

duped into determining an order be made without even making a finding on 

the 20-year user period required under s31 HA 1980!  The historical gateway 

sat on land that had been owned by LAW since March 1977; LAW and the 

Council shared the boundary from November 1994; Wimpey and the Council 

shared the boundary from November 1997; and 9 Clos Cwm Barri and the 

Council shared the boundary from since 17th June 1999 – a situation that 

remains to this day.   The gap adjacent to the maintenance gate, that existed 

between October 1998 and 6th August 1999, is also located on the shared 

boundary between 9 Clos Cwm Barri and the Council. The owners/occupiers 

likely witnessed its use as a means of access to the fields from when they 
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moved in, but did not find the use intrusive because the brick screen wall set 

in their garden curtilage literally ‘screened off’ the users.  

 

38. The un-adopted estate road and private drive serving number 6 and 8 Clos 

Cwm Barri was over land owned by LAW since 1977, then sold to Wimpey in 

November 1997.  The bottom part of the private drive fell into the ownership 

of number 6 when they completed on 23rd July 1999 and the top part when 

we completed on 30th July 1999.  The point being you cannot divert a footpath, 

and in this case the commencement of the footpath, to land outside of the 

ownership of the landowner where the original access to the alleged footpath 

was located. It was therefore vital that the PROW Committee established the 

relevant 20-year period and then work out who the affected 

landowner/occupiers were throughout the relevant period of interest. The 

PROW Committee did not do this – a fact that was later to have serious 

repercussions on us and number 6 and, most importantly, contributed to a 

defective order being made and later confirmed. (See ‘The Footpath Order’ 

below) 

 

39. In between the two sittings some PROW Committee members undertook a 

site visit. By the time the site visit took place the driveway had very much the 

appearance of what it was, a gold resin topped private drive with private drive 

gates. Mrs Underdown was present and pointed out the fenced off gap and 

gravelled pathway at 9 Clos Cwm Barri.  She showed them the fenced off stile 
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at the Ffordd Cwm Cidi cul-de -sac - members had to stand on their tip toes 

to peer over the fence to see it. The maintenance gate at the top of our private 

drive was locked and the Country Parks and Commons Manager could not find 

the padlock key so the PROW Committee could not get into the field and see 

the historical gateway. However, the PROW Officer had taken a photograph of 

it and importantly also took a photograph of the Country Parks and Commons 

Manager grappling with a bunch of keys trying to open the maintenance gate 

that, vital to our case, was latched on the right-hand side of our private drive. 

The application route was to the left of our section of private drive, and 

followed the alignment of the intended s106 agreement access towards the 

gap adjacent to the hanging post of the gate. The footpath applicant did not 

claim the drive gates as a limitation to *** application route because Wimpey 

did not instal them until around October 2000 or shortly afterwards.  *** also 

did not claim the maintenance gate as a limitation because this locked gate, 

that was designed to open on the right-hand side of our private drive, was not 

on the alignment *** claimed.  Yet both the drive gate and the maintenance 

gate were later to be included in the order schedule. 

 

The Footpath Order: 

40. Let there be no mistake in reality the footpath alignment the footpath 

applicant claimed was on the exact same alignment as the intended pedestrian 

access and the land originally set aside for the pedestrian access was included 

in the garden curtilage of 9 Clos Cwm Barri. To support our assertion, it is a 
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matter of record the footpath applicant relied on the ‘draft plan’ and the 

petition that demanded a means of access to the fields via the gap adjacent 

to the new maintenance gate to support *** application.   This is what *** 

communicated to the Council and in writing to the Planning Inspectorate Wales 

(PINS Wales) after the order was submitted to PINS Wales for confirmation.  

We discovered the PINS Wales communication years after the December 2002 

hearing took place and hold a copy of it.   

 

41. Importantly, the footpath applicant had claimed a route that crossed over 

fields – *** did not describe this land as POS, an extension to PCP. It is fact 

*** wrote on *** application form and the map attached to *** application 

that ‘Porthkerry Park’ began in the Mill Wood and not at where *** entered 

‘the fields’ through the gap on the boundary adjacent to the maintenance gate. 

*** didn’t even seem to realise that ‘Porthkerry Park’ had become a ‘country 

park’- in 1976!  This is perhaps not surprising when *** had not lived in Barry 

for very long before submitting *** footpath application. As for describing *** 

claim ‘over fields’, rather than POS, the only possible explanation for this is 

the s106 agreement had not been registered as a land charge during *** 

conveyance so *** had no idea *** was claiming a route in September 1999 

over fields that had become POS where public user rights for recreation had 

existed since 21 November 1994.  We remind the PROW Committee it took 

the Council well over 4-years to eventually get around to registering the s106 

agreement as a local land charge. When we pursued the reason for the late 
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registration, we never accepted the explanation it was an ‘administrative 

oversight’.  

 

42. Importantly, the s106 agreement had not been registered when our own 

searches were carried out.  If it had been we are under no doubt our 

conveyance solicitor would have realised the maintenance vehicle access over 

our private drive did not comply with the s106 agreement terms because it 

was not from off a roadway built to an adoptable standard that terminated at 

the POS and questions would have been asked before we completed.  The fact 

the gated-access over our private drive was unlawful development, and in any 

event not fit for purpose of sustaining the weight and height of heavy- duty 

farm machinery used by farmer ******, would have been exposed. We would 

have been advised not to complete until the issues were sorted and if not 

resolved, we would have backed off from buying 8 Clos Cwm Barri. More likely 

than not the existence of the petition demanding the pedestrian access to be 

reinstated at Clos Cwm Barri, both the Council and Wimpey knew about but 

never disclosed to our conveyancer, would have come out.  But the failure by 

the Council to register the s106 legal agreement in a timely manner combined 

with its failure to disclose a petition meant we completed on 30th July 1999 

believing we were buying a property in a very private location off a private 

drive totally oblivious to the 20-year+ plus absolute nightmare that lay ahead 

of us that has frankly torn our lives to pieces. Caveat Emptor does not apply 

when, as in our case, our search results were defective due to the non- 
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registration of the s106 agreement and both the Council and Wimpey 

suppressed the petition.  

 

43. We can now see the problem facing the Council; the WDA (that took on the 

functions of LAW in October 1998) and Wimpey was the title deeds of phase 

3, 4 and 5 residential homes referenced a s106 pedestrian access on phase 3 

that was never delivered.  By going along with the footpath claim and making 

an order the Council, as landowner of the land crossed by the majority of 

application route, resolved the ‘problem’ and at the same time used the 

footpath to link the PCP extension with the original PCP.  Incredulously linking 

the PCP extension with the original PCP was not a planning condition or 

obligation in the original outline approval.  Another ‘administrative oversight’ 

perhaps?  Absolutely not, this was a major breach in ‘planning and 

development control’.  

 

44. We invite the PROW Committee to look again at the original outline 

permission 1990/00248/OUT and the descriptor ‘Residential development and 

POS in conjunction with adjoining country park at Cwm Barry Farm, off Cwm 

Barry Way and Pontypridd Road, Barry’ and explain how the POS could possibly 

‘adjoin’ PCP without a connecting link?  Answer- it couldn’t.       Footpath 73 

was seen as a means of providing the missing link. Of course, this was unlawful 

‘problem solving’ because the Council, as the Surveying and Order Making 

Authority, cannot validate a footpath application and make an order under the 
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WCA Act 1981 to remedy major breaches in planning and development control 

under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. But this is exactly what the 

Council allowed to take place because as landowner over which 96% of the 

order route ran since 21st November 1994, it knew there was no footpath over 

the land in question; knew that user of 39.9acres was POS extension to PCP 

was ‘by right’ and not ‘as of right’; and knew the Park Rangers would be duty 

bound by the PCP byelaws to stop any unauthorised access through or over 

the barbed-wire boundary fence between the Cwm Barry Farmland at the  

edge of the Miil Wood, until  21 November 1994 when the 39.9acres became 

POS and was ‘adjoined’ to PCP. After then the wire was cut in several places 

in the barbed-wire fence to allow access into the Mill Wood.  

 

45. On behalf of the Council as the Order Making Authority, on 22nd January 

2002, ****************** made an order to add footpath 73 to the 

definitive map and statement. Mrs Medhurst has set out in submissions all that 

was wrong with the order and we do not intend to repeat everything.   

However, it is important the PROW Committee sees as a material fact to its 

determination that in late 2020 we discovered ****************, who 

remains in post today, was ****** a phase 3 resident moving in on 6th 

September 1999. The redaction masks this material fact to our case.  **** 

would have gone along Clos Cwm Barri on **** way to work   so would know 

that Clos Cwm Barri was not a hammerhead and that at the time the footpath 

application was made in September 1999 our private drive was black-topped, 
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rather than gold-topped, and did not have driveway- gates hung on brick-built 

pillars. Vital to our case, especially in view of *** legal standing within the 

Council, it is difficult to accept when *** executed the order that *** genuinely 

believed Clos Cwm Barri was an adopted highway.  

 

46. We have already explained the November 2001 PROW Committee never 

made a finding on the 20-year user period under s31 HA 1980.  However, the 

order schedule makes reference to ‘through a gate’. This is a reference to one 

of the drive gates that were installed by Wimpey after September 2000, when 

********* refused Wimpey’s application to remove the gated-access and re-

instate the hedgerow. So, if, we hypothetically go with 1st October 2000 

(because we do not recall the exact date the driveway works were undertaken 

but do have the photographs) the 20-year relevant period under s31 HA 1980 

would be 1st October 1980 – 1st October 2000. We would say that on making 

the order this was the timeframe the Order Making Authority had in mind and 

what the ************* had in mind when **** executed the order. The 

problem here is that the footpath application was dated 29Th September 1999 

– over a year prior to the end date of the relevant period 1st October 2000. In 

addition, we and our neighbours at number 6, from when we moved in during 

July 1999, were overtly challenging user of our drive. In effect the footpath 

application combined with our earlier overt challenges to user stopped the 

period of user running that the Council relied on in the making of the order so 

the full 20-year user requirement under s31 HA 1980 was not met.  
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47. The inclusion of the drive gate hanging to the left of the entrance to private 

drive in the order schedule affected its validity because the Inspector went 

onto determine a different relevant user period namely mid-1979 to mid – 

1999.  His end date was well over a year before the drive gates were hung.   

The Inspector never seemed to recognised this. But even if***had we do not 

believe***had the power to modify the order schedule to ‘fit’ his preferred 20-

year period because***could not alter an order made in reliance on a 

materially different 20-year user period.   

 

48. Attributing adoption status to Clos Cwm Barri in the order was, we say, 

fatal to its validity.   Until Clos Cwm Barri was adopted in September 2020, 

Wimpey owned the land beneath the estate road (this includes the footways) 

and its surface.  Only when adopted under a s38 Highways Act 1980 

agreement was the surface of the Clos Cwm Barri estate road vested in the 

Council’s Highway Authority at which point it then became a highway 

maintainable at the public expense and considered a public highway available 

for use by the public at large.   The general public cannot claim a public right 

of way from off an estate road by mere user, without evidence of expenditure 

on the estate road by a public authority.   If there is no public highway, as in 

the case of Clos Cwm Barri which was un-adopted when the order was made, 

then there can be no public access to a PROW from off it.  This is why we agree 

with Mrs Medhurst’s pivotal argument in her submissions that the order was 
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void, a nullity that could be neither confirmed nor challenged in the High Court. 

If the order had already been lost prior to being recorded on the consolidated 

DMS, relevant date 15th March 2016, then aside from all else it is reasonably 

arguable this is another ground for footpath 73 being recorded on the DMS in 

error because no legal instrument, i.e.; legal order, existed for it to be 

recorded on the DMS. 

 

49. As to the order map authenticated by *************, the alignment is 

not the alignment claimed by the footpath applicant. It crosses diagonally over 

the private drive serving 6 Clos Cwm Barri.  No symbol for a gate is identified 

on the map but the drive gate is referenced in the order schedule.  The route 

then follows the gravel pathway at the base of the wall on 9 Clos Cwm Barri 

before entering the POS via the gap adjacent to the hanging post of the 

maintenance gate. The gap is not identified on the order map but neither is 

the maintenance gate, that since it was described as a ‘field gate’ in the order 

schedule, the map symbol should have been ‘FG’. Notably, house numbers for 

number 6 and 8 are not identified on the order map despite being specifically 

referred to in the order schedule.  A large label ‘Clos Cwm Barri’ was applied 

to the order map obscuring almost completely number 6 and part of 8 Clos 

Cwm Barri.  How the order map itself passed validation by PINS Wales is a 

miracle because it really bares no relation to the description of the route in the 

order schedule. The Surveying and Order Making Authority failed miserably in 



Applica�on to delete footpath 73 – PROW Register 53B – 017 – Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 33 of 55 
 

the drafting of the order schedule and the order map but the drafting errors 

were never picked up by PINS Wales or the Inspector.  

 

50. But we do know the area and know which property is which. We can tell 

from the authenticated order map the order route hardly affects our section of 

private drive but materially affects 9 Clos Cwm Barri.  In particular the claimed 

means of access to the fields is the gap adjacent to the maintenance gate is 

on the shared boundary between 9 Clos Cwm Barri and the Council.  But when 

the Council misaligned the order route on the ground after the order was 

confirmed, the opposite happened by the simple act of not taking down the 

obstructing fence panel.  You may ask why the fence panel was not taken 

down?  We can answer this.  The landowners/occupiers of 9 Clos Cwm Barri 

were not served notice of the application by the footpath applicant and were 

not served notice of the order making by *************. This meant that 

number 9 was never involved in the definitive map modification order process 

at all despite being a materially affected landowner.   Also, the Council was 

reluctant to recognise the brick screen wall obstructed the true application 

route that would have required the wall being taken down to accommodate 

footpath 73. The intrusion caused by the misalignment has seriously impacted 

on our health and well-being worsened by the fact we know a footpath never 

existed through our property or indeed anywhere over the Cwm Barry Farm 

development – including through 9 Clos Cwm Barri.  
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51. But back to the adoption issue.  In 2009 ***********, used ****** 

married name to oppose an application Mrs Medhurst made in 2009.  *** 

referred to various planning applications and quoted from *** own conveyance 

document in *** paragraph 2.1.3:  

 

" It is noteworthy that when my ****** and I purchased 8 Llys y Coed 

(“the Property”), that a number of rights were granted to us and all 

persons authorised by us (in common with all other persons having a 

similar right)  

One of those rights is: 

To pass with or without vehicles along Estate Roads  

 

The above includes the road known as Clos Cwm Barri.”  

 

Importantly this was not a complete quote. In 2020 we obtained *** 

conveyance document from the Land Registry and the complete quote is: 

 

“To pass with or without vehicles along the Estate Roads along that part 

of the Accessway (and below first floor level only) shown coloured 

brown on the Plan” 
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The emboldened part was applicable to homebuyers who had a shared 

‘Accessway’.  Like us, ************ had a shared ‘Accessway’ – namely 

a shared private drive. The definition of ‘Accessway’ in *** conveyance 

document and our own is: 

 

“Any pedestrian ways forecourts or drives now or hereafter constructed on 

the surface of the land shown coloured brown on the Plan which are 

intended to remain private” (Emphasis added) 

 

It is inarguable that when ************ made the order in January 2002, 

*** understood at the time, as a lawyer AND buyer of a phase 3 home, 

that rights over estate roads were granted to a limited section of the public, 

namely residents and those authorised by them (in common with all other 

persons having a similar right), who had licence to pass with or without 

vehicles along the estate roads. The ‘in common with all other persons 

having a similar right’ would relate to persons such as the postman, 

milkman and delivery person etc. Under the terms of the s106 agreement 

and the developers’ contracts with LAW/WDA the Council did have ‘rights’ 

over estate roads – but it did not have ‘rights’ over private drives. As 

explained above, the Council’s ‘rights’ over our private drive were not 

lawfully created - there was no planning permission for the gated-access 

and the Council never registered an easement with the Land Registry either 
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when Wimpey owned the land in question or we and our neighbours at 

number 6 did. It is important we make clear to the PROW Committee that 

the ‘maintenance gate’ as per the so-called ‘approved plan’ should have 

spanned across our boundary and that of number 9.  But instead of setting 

the hanging post in the gravel path and butting up against the brick screen 

wall Wimpey did not instal it ‘to plan’ and left a gap that users went onto 

use to access the POS, extension to PCP later to become order point ‘B’.  

 

52. The ********** would have known from *** own conveyance 

document and those of all other home buyers, the definition for ‘Estate 

Road’ was: 

 

“…all road verges and footpaths now or hereafter constructed within the 

Estate which are intended to become highways maintainable at the 

public expense.” (Emphasis added) 

 

53. ‘Footpaths’ in this context means footways/pavements constructed by 

developers to an adoptable standard and included in a s38 Highways Act 

1980 agreement.  Once the various inspections were undertaken by the 

Highways Authority the ‘footpaths’ along with adjacent roads and verges 

would eventually become adopted highways. It was only when adopted that 

the estate ‘footpaths’ became public highways available for use by the 
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public at large.  The error in the order referring to Clos Cwm Barri being an 

adopted highway when it wasn’t, taking into account ******** was a 

lawyer AND a phase 3 resident, suggests it was deliberate. But whether it 

was or was not, it was an error by the Council as Order Making Authority, 

on whose behalf **************** executed the order, that rendered it 

invalid - a nullity.  This fatal error, along with everything else that was 

wrong with the order, went on to taint the inspector’s entire decision 

making at the confirmation stage.  

 

54. With the passage of time since 2009 and an increased knowledge of 

PROW matters if we knew then what we know now, our response to the 

************* 2009 representation would have been as follows: 

 

To: *************  ***************** 

From: Mr Graham Underdown MBE and Mrs Jean Underdown (owners of 8 

Clos Cwm Barri_ 

 

6 and 8 Clos Cwm Barri, like your own property, are located on a shared 

private drive which as an ‘Accessway’ was intended to remain private 

property.  Therefore, no ‘rights’ were granted for estate residents to pass 

over our private drive with or without vehicles unless they were invitees or 

implied invitees such as the postman; milkman; delivery persons etc.  The 
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majority of UEFs supporting the footpath applicant’s application were 

completed by estate residents.  Each and every one of them would have 

signed their conveyance document on completion and in doing so accepted 

the ‘rights granted’ defining where they had license to pass with or without 

vehicles through the ‘Estate’. Therefore, when they passed over our 

‘Accessway’, i.e.; private drive uninvited, each and every one of them was 

acting in breach of the ‘rights granted’ they signed up to.  

 

These breaches by residents cannot be attributed to ‘public user’ of a route 

over our private drive so the UEFs should have been discounted for the 

period of time they lived on the ‘Estate’.  ‘Estate’ is defined as land where 

the registered proprietor was Wimpey under title WA 761544. This 

exercise, if it had taken place during the hearing, would have excluded the 

user period for 12 of the 17 UEFs that were completed by Wimpey phase 1 

and Wimpey phase 3 residents. As family members of the chief witness, 

and therefore *** ‘invitees’ the UEF’s of *** parents would also be 

discounted for the period of use over the estate roads serving Wimpey 

phase 1 and 3 when their daughter resided on phase 3.  3 UEFs remain – 

all can now swiftly be discounted.  The couple who lived in Howard Court 

stopped walking in the area in 1997 – so the gap in the hedge order point 

‘D’ would not have existed.  The user who lived in Millwood Rise would not 

have accessed the application route from Pontypridd Road, if at all.  *** 
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UEF suggests *** likely confused Clos Cwm Barri with Cwm Barry Way.  So 

that dispenses with the only evidence the Council relied on to make the 

order – 17 UEFs that, by the Council’s own admission were never 

investigated.  We have been saying for over 20-years there was never ever 

any evidence to support adding footpath 73 to the DMS – our assertions 

were correct.   

 

We have a couple of questions.  We note that your searches were 

undertaken in 8th July 1999 so was it you that alerted the Council to the 

fact the s106 agreement had not been registered as a local land charge – 

because it was finally registered a week later?  We also note your father 

witnessed your conveyance document dated 6th September 1999 so, as a 

qualified lawyer with knowledge in legal matters, did you do your own 

conveyance?  

 

We hold copies of all the original UEFs in an un-redacted format so can 

personally vouch for the fact that not one of these ‘users’ was invited onto 

our property – indeed some were turned away by us or number 6. 

Regardless, since Clos Cwm Barri was not a public highway, then any use 

of our private drive from off Clos Cwm Barri, their user was not exercising 

a ‘public right’ but was forced and unwanted.  
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The December 2002 hearing before Inspector *******: 

56. A running theme throughout our horrendous 20+ year experience is the 

argument that the 42- time limit to challenge the order has long since 

passed. We re-iterate a void order cannot be challenged even within the 

42- day time period because you cannot challenge a nullity. Furthermore, 

the order made for footpath 73 no longer exists because the Council has 

lost its copy and PINS Wales shredded the duplicate – despite a solicitor’s 

letter from us for PINS Wales to retain hard copies of all the case 

documents! That said the WCA 1981 provides a method, under section 

53(3) (3) (iii) to correct an error of inclusion of a way on the DMS.  There 

is no time limit for applications submitted under this section – as is the 

case of Mrs Medhurst’s application.  In addition, there is nothing in the WCA 

1981 Act that states the reasoning in a decision letter of a planning 

inspector who confirmed the order in the first instance cannot be criticised 

even long after it is issued.  In the case of footpath 73 we have discovered 

copious amounts of evidence that was not before Inspector ****** that 

prove just how wrong *** reasons were for confirming what we now say 

was, from the moment it was executed, a void order.  

 

57. We were persuaded by PINS Wales that a hearing rather than an inquiry 

be held else be at risk of costs against us.  We now know that the costs 

regime applies to hearings as well as inquiries so from the outset we were 
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misled by PINS Wales.  Also, since the claim was based entirely on user 

evidence then an inquiry should have been held because the only method 

of testing user evidence is under cross-examination. Much to our 

consternation questioning, never mind cross -examination, was expressly 

forbidden by the Inspector at the hearing so the user evidence was never 

tested then and has never been tested since.  

 

58. The 2011 Inspector, Inspector ******, insisted on written 

representations rather than agree to a non-statutory public inquiry that 

would have allowed for cross -examination.  *** refused to undertake a 

site visit accompanied or unaccompanied.    We give little credence to *** 

decision letter. No – we didn’t issue proceedings to judicially review *** 

decision because we didn’t have a spare £100+k to do so. But as with the 

Inspector ***** decision letter there is nothing under s53 (3) (c) (iii) to 

stop the current PROW Committee from taking the contents of this decision 

letter into consideration.  In particular we point the PROW Committee to 

paragraph 73 and **** finding that if the s106 agreement had been 

registered in a timely manner then a footpath claim might not have been 

made.  We agree – and furthermore it supports our assertion that the 

footpath applicant’s claim was on the alignment of the s106 pedestrian 

access that Wimpey failed to deliver.  
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59. Please don’t forget that prior to making the order the November 2001 

PROW Committee made no finding on the 20-year relevant period under 

s31 Highways Act despite the application relying on modern user evidence. 

And, as argued above *********** executed an order on the basis the 

relevant 20-year period under s31 HA 1980 must have been 1st October 

1980 – 1st October 2000 (or thereabouts) because the order schedule refers 

to a drive gate. 

 

60. Inspector ****** had the case papers a few weeks before the hearing 

on 3rd December 2002.  *** should have determined the 20-year relevant 

period at the pre- hearing stage and the parties advised of it accordingly 

through the PINS Wales case officer. This did not happen so the first we 

knew what the 20-year relevant period***relied on was, was when the 

decision letter was issued citing mid- 1979 – mid- 1999 which we take as 

30 June 1979 to 30 June 1999.  This time period, we now realise, was in 

conflict with the time period relied on to make the order, so setting aside 

our argument the order was void, this would have been a stand-alone 

reason for the Inspector not to confirm it.   

 

61. But looking at the relevant user period determined by the Inspector we 

and our neighbours at number 6 were not the landowners of the 4% section 

of the order route that crossed diagonally over the private drive.  LAW, the 
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WDA and then Wimpey were – but neither the WDA nor Wimpey was in 

attendance at the hearing. Had a representative been there from these 

bodies the order would not have been confirmed if for no other reason it 

would have been bound to have come out that Clos Cwm Barri was 

unadopted so the order was fatally flawed.    

 

62. The hearing held in December 2002 we can only describe as a ‘sham’ – 

and if not a ‘sham’ it was definitely ‘shambolic’ because neither those ‘for’ 

the order and those like us ‘opposing it’ had a clue what we were supposed 

to do – and neither would it seem did the Inspector. As for the Council, 

that held all the information and evidence that would have stopped the 

order from being confirmed, the 3 officers in attendance were there to 

observe only. We honestly believe the confirmation of the order was a ‘done 

deal’ not only to protect the Council by stopping the breaches of planning 

and development control and in legal agreements from emerging but also 

the National Assembly of Wales (NAW).  We can say this because after the 

hearing we experienced massive obstruction from PINS Wales; were forced 

to make tortuous FOI requests for information; and, of course, PINS Wales 

destroyed the case papers despite our solicitor’s letter asking they be 

retained. At this juncture we would ask the PROW Committee to take an 

adverse inference from the fact the order, and its duplicate, have allegedly 

been lost or destroyed so what is it on the originals that no-one wants us 
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to see? We believe it could be the house numbering for 9 Clos Cwm Barri 

being wrongly shown as number 6 that appears on the photocopy as a 

blurred dot. There are no blurred dots, that we can make out, on the real 

number 6 or us at number 8.  The original order map would provide clarity.  

 

63. NAW appointed Inspector ******* but *** never declared *** 

appointer had an interest over the land in question because LAW, the 

original developer that secured outline planning permission from the LPA, 

was an ‘Assembly Sponsored Public Body’. The WDA, that took over from 

LAW, was also an ‘Assembly Sponsored Public Body.  Inspector ******* 

was also the inspector in the Fernlee case misapplied by officers at the 

committee stage.  The Inspector never declared his involvement in Fernlee. 

We can see***made considerable effort in his decision letter to make 

Fernlee fit the circumstances at Clos Cwm Barri when they did not.  The 

movement of the footpath in Fernlee was allowed because the re-aligned 

route through a gap had been available throughout the 20 -year relevant 

period. The gap that became order point ‘B’ had not been available 

throughout 20-years but was only a usable route for about 10-months – 

October 1998 to August 1999. The footpath applicant; *** chief witness; 

*** father; and the Council ALL knew this.  This fact did not emerge at the 

hearing because the Inspector did not allow questioning and failed to insist 

on the full engagement of the Council and call Council officers with an 
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intimate knowledge of the land in question to appear.  *** also failed to 

establish landownership matters during the relevant 20-year period *** 

determined and call for representative of the WDA and Wimpey to appear 

before ***.  

 

64. As stated above the 3 Council officers in attendance did not actively 

engage in the hearing despite 96% of the order route crossing land owned 

by the Council.  The Inspector seemed to think there non -involvement was 

acceptable. It wasn’t.  The Council was the landowner affected by 96% of 

the order route so absolutely should have fully engaged.  Relevant officers 

whose attendance was vital to the proper determination of the order such 

as ***********, who was served notice of the order as the officer who 

represented the Council as landowner, and *********** the Senior 

Country Park Ranger did not attend. No-one from the LPA was there. It was 

left to us and our neighbour at 6 Clos Cwm Barry to fight it out with the 

footpath applicant, *** chief witness and *** father and a couple of 

members of the public in attendance.    We had no clue about PROW law 

and procedures – Inspector ******** gave us no guidance. In particular 

*** never introduced and explained the ‘user as of right’ v ‘user by right’ 

argument despite acknowledging in *** decision letter the majority of the 

order route crossed POS, an extension to PCP owned by the Council. 

Perhaps *** didn’t understand the difference***self? Regardless,  we had 
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no clue about ‘user as of right’ v ‘user by right’ until years after the order 

was confirmed. 

 

65. The hearing took place in the Dock Offices where the LPA was located 

but the Inspector never requested copies of planning files; a complete copy 

of the s106 agreement and plan (only an extract of the agreement was 

before ***); and the petition despite referring to ALL these matters in *** 

decision letter.   ALL these documents were held in the Dock Offices – it 

wouldn’t have taken long to retrieve them.  We have since gathered the 

documents so they must be considered.  They can be found in the case 

papers for Mrs Medhurst’s application and in the Council’s, files held for 

footpath 73 that, we understand are now in a limited electronic form only, 

the hard copies having been destroyed.  So here we go again – file 

destruction that the PROW Committee must take an adverse inference 

from!  

 

66. Significant weight was given to the chief witness’s claim of ‘daily use’ of 

the application route since the 1970s. *** frequency of use shown on *** 

UEF was untrue because for several years during the relevant 20-year 

period, mid-1979 – mid-1999 or, if you like, 1st October 1980 to 1st October 

2000, *** did not even live in Wales never mind Barry!  Had *** user 

evidence been tested under questioning, never mind cross-examination, 
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this would likely have emerged so as a non-credible witness *** user 

evidence would have been discounted altogether or given very little weight.  

The father of the chief witness was not an estate resident but***claimed 

access to the fields via the stile at the end of the Ffordd Cwm Cidi cul-de-

sac and the stile was not on the order route. The footpath applicant never 

raised the fact the order route did not correspond to *** application route 

likely because *** got *** ‘pedestrian access’ into the fields over our 

private drive and that was all *** was concerned about. At this juncture 

we advise the PROW Committee the footpath applicant ****** complained 

to the Council about misaligning the order route on the ground after it was 

confirmed by unhinging the maintenance gate to create the gap in our 

boundary so rendering the gate useless. 

 

67. The Country Parks and Commons Manager did attend the hearing. *** 

acknowledged in correspondence to us before the hearing an informal access 

was created at order point ‘D’, on the edge of the Mill Wood around 1994 when 

the barbed wire fence was cut.  *** told us the Park Rangers did not remedy 

the boundary breach because the 39.9-acre area allocated a POS had become 

part of PCP. This letter was before the Inspector but *** gave no weight to it.  

If it was a case of the Inspector did not fully understand that this letter, we 

argue now in itself proved there was no access to the Mill Wood at order point 

‘D’ until after 21 November 1994, because any forced breaches of the barbed 

wire fence creating an access would have been dealt with by the Park Rangers, 
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then why didn’t *** ask the Country Parks and Commons Manager who was 

in attendance to clarify matters? Indeed, why didn’t *** simply ask the 

Country Parks and Commons Manager IF there were was an unrecorded 

footpath over the land in question that existed for 20-years prior to 21 

November 1994?      Instead, the Inspector asked the Country Parks and 

Commons Manager the effect of footpath 73 would have on ‘tree- planting’.  

We say now what was ‘tree-planting’ to do with anything?  If the letter 

evidence had been properly dealt with at the hearing it would have been 

another reason to ‘kill’ the order because it would have proven there was no 

through route from order point ‘D’ into the Mill Wood until around November 

1994 and prior to then any forced accesses created on the barbed-wire 

boundary between Cwm Barry Farmland and the Mill Wood would have been 

swiftly dealt with by the Ranger Service.    

 

68. The Inspector did ask the Council’s lawyer in attendance a question about 

the order who replied it had been made as set out in the Application. This was 

not true.  When the footpath applicant submitted *** application the driveway 

gates had not been installed; *** application made no reference to the 

maintenance gate because it was not the means of access to the fields the 

residents claimed but the gap adjacent to the gate; and *** photographs 

supporting *** Application showed a route that extended through the Mill 

Wood – it did not terminate at the edge of the Mill Wood, identified as order 

point ‘D’, on the order route. The footpath applicant’s captioned photographs 
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were on display at the hearing as was the footpath applicant’s application 

identifying the application route as continuing through the Mill Wood so what 

on earth possessed the Inspector to ask the question?  We can only but 

suggest it was all down to a ‘sham’ or ‘shambolic’ hearing.  

 

69. The well- worn path through the Mill Wood identified in the footpath 

applicant’s captioned photographs was a ‘Country Park Nature Trail’ the Park 

Rangers had likely kept clear and been maintaining since the 1979.   The 

section of route claimed over ‘the fields’ did not connect to the Trail at order 

point ‘D’. The Inspector clearly did not properly give *** attention to the 

continuation of the application route through the Mill Wood.  

 

70. Since the hearing we have obtained a Warden Survey undertaken on 16 

November 2001, just before the PROW Committee sat for its first meeting, 

proving order point ‘D’ did not connect to the Nature Trail. The purpose of the 

survey was to identify the perspective of where the footpath applicant’s 

photographs were taken.  The results were transferred to a large plan 

displayed at the December 2002 hearing – but the original survey was not 

disclosed.  Had it been this too would have ‘killed’ the order because it shows 

that as at November 2001 there was no link between the order route at order 

point ‘D’ and the ‘Country Park Nature Trail’. If there was no link then, there 

could not have been a link at the end of the relevant 20-year period the 

Inspector determined as 30 June 1999 and ***************** determined 
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as 1st October 2000 (or thereabouts). 

 

71. An important by-product of this large plan that was on a display stand at 

the December 2002 hearing was that the estate road Clos Cwm Barri and 

surrounding new estate roads have no colour hue whereas already established 

roads in the area have a pink hue. We have come to learn the pink hue means 

the roads are adopted – no hue means unadopted.  Inspector ****** has 

been said to be experienced in reading plans but for *** not to notice this, 

especially in view of the fatal flaw in the order, we say points to a less than 

competent inspector.  The self-same plan identifies order points ‘A’, ‘B’, ‘C’ and 

‘D’ as the ‘Route of footpath claimed’. This is simply not true – the footpath 

applicant’s ‘claimed footpath’ extended through the Mill Wood – *** 

application form said so as did *** photographic evidence. And number 9 Clos 

Cwm Barri is wrongly identified on the plan as number 6. We suggest this was 

deliberate because number 9 Clos Cwm Barri had not been involved in the 

DMMO process so the Council passed it off as number 6.  All this is further 

evidence of a ‘sham’ or ‘shambolic’ hearing.  We hold a copy of the large plan 

– in its original colour format. Inspector ******* decision letter identifies it 

as a hearing document so it cannot be denied it was before ***. 

 

72. To this day we do not believe the Inspector ever undertook a ‘site visit’ 

over the land in questions which against our express wishes *** undertook 

unaccompanied. Mrs Underdown was determined to point out land features to 
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the Inspector and maintained a watching vigil all day – but never saw ***.  If 

*** did do a site visit, amongst other matters, *** would have seen there was 

no estate footway linking 99a Pontypridd Road to order point ‘A’; Clos Cwm 

Barri was not a hammerhead; the maintenance gate opened on the opposite 

side of the drive to the order route; a fence panel had blocked the gap users 

claimed; number 6 on the plan was actually number 9; and order point ‘D’ did 

not connect to the Nature Trail.   From reading *** decision letter it would 

seem *** did visit land at the bottom of Cwm Barry Way in the vicinity of the 

phase 4 Westbury development where there is a kissing gate access to ‘the 

fields’. But why on earth would *** have walked an area that was no-where 

near the order route? Answer – *** must have been very confused by the 

order map.  

 

73. With the passage of time, we can now fully evidence that Inspector ****** 

decision was based on hearsay; beliefs; incorrect findings of fact; 

contradictions in facts; unanswered self-questions; and evidence from a non-

credible chief witness. The Inspector did not even apply the proper legal test. 

The effect of the Order as *** set out in paragraph 1 bares no relation to the 

order route as described in the order schedule – and most certainly bares no 

relation whatsoever to the application route. According to paragraph 1 the 

order route went through the field gate.  Well, if it did the order line would be 

on the right-hand side of the private drive.  However, in paragraph 19 the 

Inspector identifies the gap immediately east of the field-gate as the means 



Applica�on to delete footpath 73 – PROW Register 53B – 017 – Agenda Item 7 
 

Page 52 of 55 
 

of access to the fields which was what the footpath applicant and *** 

witnesses claimed – this contradicts paragraph 1.   Paragraph 1 also describes 

the order route as terminating at order point ‘C’ not ‘D’.  Frankly, paragraph 

1. is evidence in itself that the Inspector lacked competence and did not under 

-take a site visit and walk the order route as stated in paragraph 3. As to 

paragraph 3, we are prepared to state under oath we did not agree to an 

unaccompanied site visit and Mrs Underdown was furious when the Inspector 

approached her after *** had closed the hearing to say because the footpath 

applicant was unavailable to attend a site visit then neither could she. 

 

74. To conclude on the matter of the decision letter, as with the order itself, it 

is hard to find anything ‘right’ about it and we have gathered evidence over 

the last 20+ years that proves this. 

 

PROW Committee Meeting 6th September 2023: 

75.  On 29 September 2020, just after Clos Cwm Barri was finally 

adopted, a waymarker post was installed by the Council outside 9 Clos Cwm 

Barri.  This matches the start of the alignment of the intended pedestrian 

access claimed by the footpath applicant as the alignment of the footpath. But 

the location of this waymarker does NOT match the alignment of order point 

‘A’ on the order map – order point ‘A’ is on the other side of the private drive 

between 4 and 6 Clos Cwm Barri.  As argued above, once the order for footpath 

73 was confirmed residents were misled into believing footpath 73 was the 
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s106 pedestrian access.  We even hold a letter from the chief witness stating 

*** follows the ‘rules’ and keeps to the left of the driveway!   We ask what 

‘rules’?  The erection of the waymarker outside 9 compounded this mistaken 

belief about ‘rules’.  

 

76. On your site visit the PROW Committee can see for itself the location of the 

way markers and other land features that support our case no footpath existed 

AND it was misaligned on the ground. To decline to do a site visit would be 

procedural unfairness. You simply cannot make any decision without visiting 

the site and seeing with your own eyes the physical evidence that still exists 

on the ground that you must consider with documentary evidence during your 

determination of Mrs Medhurst’s application to correct an error of inclusion of 

footpath 73 on the DMS.   

 

52. The current PROW Committee has the benefit of a member who sat on the 

November 2001 PROW Committee but gave apologies for not attending the 

site visit. We would hope Cllr Hodges would confirm the events that took place 

at these meetings as we have described them above.   

 

53. The PROW Committee also has before it the expert witness report of **** 

BA MA MClfa FSA – an expert in aerial and satellite imagery. This is the first 

time an ‘expert’ opinion is before a Council Committee. The evidential 

photographs were taken by the RAF for the NAW.  The NAW appointed 
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Inspector ******* to conduct the December 2002 hearing so the aerial 

photographs were sourced from *** appointer’s own records therefore their 

provenance is unquestionable.  Importantly, ***** is qualified to give 

evidence in a Court of LAW. The PROW Committee cannot and must not accept 

that Inspectors ****** and *****, who both made findings on the NAW aerial 

photographs in their respective decision letters and the findings in the 2023 

Investigation Report, wrongly attributed to the Director of Place, are the 

findings of ‘experts’ in aerial and satellite imagery.  

 

54. To conclude we revert to our opening introduction that as the PROW 

Committee you conduct yourselves as a ‘Truth and Resolution Committee’ that 

recognises and accepts the ‘truth’. We therefore invite the PROW Committee 

to disregard the officer recommendation and determine an order is made to 

delete footpath 73 from the DMS. In view of the passage of time the error of 

inclusion of footpath 73 has remained on the DMS, we would hope you direct 

an order be made immediately and notice published accordingly.    

 

55. There will likely be a flood of objections – but we are more than prepared 

for that. In any event we would expect the Council to warn those who submit 

and do not withdraw irrelevant objections of the costs consequences should 

the order be submitted to PEDW for confirmation and a hearing or inquiry held.  
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55. We hold thousands of documents supporting the recording of footpath 73 

on the DMS was an error, most obtained from Council files, but to assist we 

attach some key evidence – you can always ask us for more:  

• Dated photograph taken at site visit on 22 November 2001. It shows the former 

Country Parks and Commons Manager trying to unlock the maintenance gate.  Note 

the gate opens on the right of the gold-resin topped private drive.  In the foreground 

and the private drive gates are closed.  

• Correspondence between us and the Country Parks and Commons Manager 

July/August 2002. Note how ***  avoids answering some of the questions - for 

instance why should how the farmer accessed the land pre- 1998 be a ‘state secret’! 

Answer – because the Council was very ‘sensitive’ about ALL access matters to the 

POS – vehicular and pedestrian 

• Warden Survey 16 November 2001 – note reference to ‘No formal access’ in the locality 

of order point ‘D’ and order point ‘D’ not connecting to the Nature Trail in November 

2001. 

• PCP Byelaws 

• 1983 newspaper article regarding Farmer ****** 

 

Thank you for reading our ‘late rep/victim impact statement’. 
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